## Me Have Powers

a Guide to Engaging with Your MLA and Using Your Voice for Change



#### **Acknowledgements**

- Allison Smith (she/they) Content Writer, We Have Power guide, Legal Information Society of Nova Scotia (LISNS)
- ► Shila LeBlanc (she/her) Project coordinator, editor (LISNS)
- Dr. Naj Siritsky (no pronouns preferred/they/she/he/we) Professional practice and advocacy consultant, Nova Scotia College of Social Workers (NSCSW)
- Rebecca Faria (she/her) Communications (NSCSW)
- Suzanne Kutach (she/her) Administrative support (NSCSW)
- Lisa Neily (she/her) Graphic designer, We Have Power guide
- Jesse Williams (he/him) Website
- Heather de Berdt Romilly (she/her) Executive Director (LISNS)
- Alec Stratford (he/him) Executive Director and Registrar (NSCSW)

#### **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	2
Introduction	4
Canada – Our Three Levels of Government	5
Why it matters to engage in local politics	8
What MLAs do - Your MLA works for you!	10
How a Bill becomes a law	13
	15
What are the stages that a Bill goes through?	
Can members of the public provide input on Bills before the House of Assembly?	16
Complain up the chain: how to ensure your voice is heard	18
Tips for effective communication	19
Writing a letter to your MLA	21
Template letters to your MLA	22
Resources	28





Copyright © 2023 by the Legal Information Society of Nova Scotia and the Nova Scotia College of Social Workers.

This project was made possible through collaboration between the Legal Information Society of Nova Scotia and the Nova Scotia College of Social Workers. With aligned values and a desire for a just world, we are pleased to offer this resource to the community.

#### Introduction

Welcome to We Have Power. a Guide to Engaging with Your MLA and Using Your Voice for Change.

We Have Power was created in partnership between the **Nova Scotia College of Social Workers** and the **Legal Information Society of Nova Scotia**.

We created this resource to help empower members of the public to engage in local politics and understand the important role we all play in advocating for a Nova Scotia that serves everyone's needs.

We **all** have the power to shape our shared future.

As you read through this guide, you'll read some tips and strategies for engaging with local politicians and ensuring they understand what is important to you and your community.

We've included tips on effective communication, information about what your MLA's role is and how you can contact them, and templates for making calls and writing letters about the issues that matter to you.

We encourage you to take the tools that we have offered and tailor them to your own concerns, voice, and experience. Together we can use our voices to build a province where people don't just live but can authentically thrive.



Freedom can never be taken for granted. Each generation must safeguard it and extend it. Your parents and elders sacrificed much so that you should have freedom without suffering what they did. Use this precious right to ensure that the darkness of the past never returns.

Nelson Mandela

#### Canada – Our Three Levels of Government

In Canada, there are three levels of government – **federal, provincial, and municipal**. Each level of government has its own role and set of responsibilities.





The federal government is located in Ottawa, our nation's capital. It is responsible for matters that concern the country as a whole.



The federal government includes the House of Commons, made up of 337

Members of Parliament (MPs) from every province and territory. It also includes the Prime Minister, the Senate (made up of Senators appointed by the Prime Minister), and the Governor General.



Federal responsibilities include immigration, criminal law, taxes, foreign policy, international relations and national defense.



## Members of Parliament (MPs) are responsible for reviewing and voting on proposed federal laws and representing the interests of their constituency (the region that elected them). They are similar in their role to MLAs but on a national level.

For a full list of the division of responsibilities between our provincial and federal governments, visit here.

#### Canada – Our Three Levels of Government

#### **PROVINCIAL**



In Nova Scotia, the provincial government is located in Halifax. It is responsible for matters that fall under the provincial umbrella.



**Provincial responsibilities** include hospitals, education, marriage, property and civil rights, and the province's natural resources.



In Nova Scotia, our provincial government is made up of our Premier, the Lieutenant Governor, and Members of the Legislative Assembly (MLAs). MLAs are people who have been elected to the Nova Scotia House of Assembly.



You can contact your **Member of the** Legislative Assembly (MLA) about any of the issues listed above. Learn more about MLAs, their roles and responsibilities, and how to effectively communicate with your MLA by reading the We Have Power guide. legalinfo.org/wehavepower

For a full list of the division of responsibilities between our provincial and federal governments, visit here.

#### Canada - Our Three Levels of Government

#### **MUNICIPAL**



Nova Scotia has many municipal governments. This includes regional municipalities, towns, districts, and counties.



You can contact a representative of your municipal government if you have a concern about any regional issue such as any of the above.



Municipal governments deal with regional issues such as **public parks**, **garbage removal**, **local social**, **police** and **fire services**, and **public transportation** such as bus services.



To find the website for your municipal government, visit https://archive-it.org/collections/7485

## Why it matters to engage in local politics

Our political system and government work best when everyone has a voice.

We live in a democracy, which is by its nature a form of government designed to represent the concerns and interests of the entire population.

We each play an important role in our democracy when we vote to elect our leaders.

Voting is one of the most essential and effective ways of ensuring that we have leaders who reflect our values and understand our concerns. When we vote, we use our voices and our individual power to influence social change and progress.

We vote so that we can elect leaders who can represent us and speak for us in places where important decisions are made.

Our elected representatives have the ability to shape policy decisions, decide what is given priority within our provincial budget, make revisions to our laws, and create new laws.

Sometimes we think that our ability to shape our government and its direction ends after we've voted. But this is not true.



Never doubt that a small group of thoughtful citizens can change the world. Indeed, it is the only thing that ever has.

Margaret Mead

We each have the power to influence the direction taken and decisions made by our leaders well beyond election day. After an election, we can continue to play an important role in our democratic process by engaging with our leaders and letting them know what matters to everyday Nova Scotians and our communities.

We know that there are many important issues these days that are of crucial concern to Nova Scotians.

You may be concerned about the rising cost of living, access to healthcare and mental health resources, housing and food insecurity, or the many other issues that impact us and the people we care about.

Many people feel like they have little or no power on an individual level to create meaningful social change. But this is not true. You do have power. **When we let our leaders know what matters to us, we can shape our province's present and its future.** 

It is a privilege to live in a democracy and to have the power to shape our government and influence its direction. But in order for a democracy to work effectively, we all need to participate.

If community members give up on political engagement, democracy can't meaningfully thrive and our government won't truly represent who we are as a society and what values we hold.

So remember that you do have power.

Many of the most important policy and legislative changes that have happened in our province have been the result of individual people raising their voices and letting those in power know that change is needed.

Individual citizens have always played an important role in identifying concerns and issues that are important to them and to their communities. Nova Scotia is at its best when people from all different communities, backgrounds, and identities speak up about what matters to them.

When individual citizens voice their concerns, this gives our government the opportunity to understand what is impacting people across our province and respond through concrete action.



The importance of the ordinary citizen is very greatly underestimated — not so much by those in authority as by the ordinary citizen himself.

Jan Struther

### What MLAs do - Your MLA works for you!

In Nova Scotia, Members of the Legislative Assembly (MLAs) are people who have been elected to the Nova Scotia House of Assembly.

MLAs are responsible for:

- Researching and proposing new laws
- Representing the needs and concerns of their communities
- Debating proposed laws with other MLAs when the House is in session
- Passing new laws that serve the interests of our province and its communities.

#### Did you know?



Nova Scotia has 55 electoral districts. This means that there are 55 communities across our province that are responsible for electing an MLA who will represent their interests and concerns. If you're not certain which MLA represents your community, you can find this information at https://enstools.electionsnovascotia.ca/edinfo/

MLAs are responsible for shaping the present and the future of our province by making updates to our province's laws and passing new laws. An MLA's role is to represent the community that elected them and collaborate with other MLAs to govern the province and address the needs and concerns that arise.



Those who love peace must learn to organize as well as those who love war.

Dr. Martin Luther King

When the House of Assembly is "sitting" or "in session," this means that MLAs from across the province are meeting to discuss and debate proposed laws. This happens at Province House in downtown Halifax.

There is no set schedule for when the House is in legislative session, but the *House of Assembly Act* requires that the House sits at least twice every year, in the spring and in the fall.

When the House is not in session, MLAs usually return to their communities to learn about the issues and concerns that their residents (also called "constituents") may have. MLAs are sometimes able to lobby for citizens on individual concerns, but their primary role is to identify and represent the broad needs of Nova Scotians and create new laws that help our province function and thrive. This is where you come in!

Most MLAs are members of a political party, for example the Liberal Party, the Conservative Party, the New Democratic Party (NDP), or the Green Party. Some MLAs may also get elected as Independents, which means that they are not part of any political party and do not align with a particular party's political platform.

MLAs representing different parties will compete with each other to get elected and form a part of the government. The party with the support of the majority of MLAs will become the government, and the remaining MLAs form what is known as the opposition.



Change in a democracy can be brought about quickly or slowly. The speed depends on its people's honesty of mind, their values, their humility and knowledge and insight; and, above all else, on the will to act, once they realize the need for action.

Lilian Smith

As members of political parties, MLAs not only represent individual citizens' concerns but also represent the interests of the party that they are a part of. Each political party has a specific platform which reflects the values, concerns, and priorities of their members.

We often think of parties as either progressive (left-wing) or conservative (right-wing), or sometimes somewhere in between these two poles.

In a general sense, an MLA will usually try to get laws passed that align well with their party's interests. Sometimes the parties have very different points of view, but depending on the issue, there is sometimes overlap between parties' priorities.

A very important point that we want to make is that **you have a right to speak to your MLA and raise your concerns no matter what political party you belong to or what party you have voted for in the past.** For example, if you are an NDP supporter and there is a Conservative MLA elected to represent your community, you can and should still approach that MLA with your concerns.

It is your right as a citizen to share your thoughts, ideas, and concerns with your MLA. This may include ideas about new laws that should be passed, old laws that should be updated, policy changes that impact your community, or any other important issue that you wish to share that is relevant to how our province functions and its future.

#### Did you know?



Your MLA may be a part of a particular political party, but they are also there to serve all of Nova Scotia and in particular the community members that they have been elected to represent.

As we said in the introduction, our government works best when individual Nova Scotians feel heard and feel meaningfully represented. In a democracy, every person matters and every voice matters.



Democracy in the contemporary world demands, among other things, an educated and informed people.

Elizabeth Bishop

#### How a Bill becomes a law

In the section above, we covered the roles and responsibilities of our MLAs. Next, we'll talk about how a Bill becomes a law.

What is a Bill? A law begins as an idea. The next step is to propose this idea in writing. A Bill is a simply a proposal to create a new law or to change or repeal a current law. A Bill becomes a formal part of our law when it passes through all the stages required as part of the legislative process. When a Bill becomes a law, it is then known as an Act.

As we've discussed, MLAs are responsible for creating new laws and making changes to current laws. This is not the only role of our MLAs, but it is one of the most important ones.

Our laws reflect many of our most important and core values as human beings. We all have individual values that are essential to us and that are the foundation of our unique moral codes. You can think of the law as the moral code that we have established together as a society.

The law reflects our society's values - for example, who we grant protections to and what these protections involve.

Our values as a society evolve. This is very clear when you think back to what our society looked like 50 years ago or 100 years ago. As society evolves, our laws must evolve as well - and they do! This is why it is so important to tell our lawmakers (our MLAs) what it is that we value and how we want to see this reflected in the laws that we all share.

Our MLAs play an important part in:

- creating and introducing new Bills,
- debating the ideas and content that make up these Bills, and
- voting on whether these Bills will become formal law.

All of the MLAs in the House of Assembly have an opportunity to provide input on a Bill.

One of the most important ways that this happens is through **debate**. Debate is an important part of the political process. It allows everyone involved to hear and understand different points of view and priorities.

When MLAs debate a Bill, they might bring up any of the following:

- points that are based on research that they have done,
- concerns and priorities shared by their political party as a whole, and
- input they receive from their communities and individual citizens.

What this means is that everyone in Nova Scotia has the power to influence what becomes a law in our province.

You have the power to influence change and impact what becomes law. There are two main ways you can do this:

- One of these ways is by telling your MLA about what matters to you. You can do this by email, by writing a letter, by making a phone call, or setting up an appointment to speak with someone at your MLA's office to share your concerns. Your MLA can then voice these concerns when potential Bills are being considered or debated.
- 2. Another way that you can use your voice to influence our law is by **sharing your input on a Bill directly with the Committee** that is responsible for making recommendations about a

  Bill. You can do this in person or in writing. We'll talk more about how this process works below.

#### What is the role of the Speaker of the Nova Scotia House of Assembly?

The Speaker of the House of Assembly is an important figure in the process of how a bill becomes a law. The Speaker is an MLA who is chosen by the other MLAs to oversee and direct the debate process.

When the House is in session, the Speaker's job is to:

- maintain order and oversee the debate as it's happening,
- make important decisions based on the formal rules of the House of Assembly, and
- make sure that all viewpoints are heard and that the debate process remains fair and respectful.

The Speaker doesn't take part in the debate itself. But if a vote in the House of Assembly ends up in a tie, then the Speaker casts the deciding vote.

For information about the current Speaker of the Nova Scotia House of Assembly, visit **nslegislature.ca/members/speaker**.

## What are the stages that a Bill goes through?

A Bill goes through various steps before it gets passed and becomes a law. Some Bills don't end up getting passed, which means they never become part of our law.

MLAs get to vote on Bills at different stages, so play an essential role in whether a Bill makes it to the next stage.

There is a series of stages that a Bill must pass through in order to become a law.

The first stage is that **the Bill is introduced by an MLA.** The MLA does this by rising from their seat and making a formal request of the Speaker for permission to introduce the Bill. The Bill is then assigned a number and printed so that all of the MLAs get a copy. The Bill isn't read or debated at this stage.

The next stage is known as the **second reading.** At the second reading stage, the MLA who introduced the Bill explains the purpose of the Bill and its content.

During the second reading, all MLAs have the opportunity to debate the content and purpose of the Bill.

Each MLA is only allowed to speak once during this debate. No changes are made to the Bill at this time, but points raised during the debate may influence what changes are made at the next stage in the Bill's life.

If a Bill passes second reading, this means it has received enough support from the MLAs. It is then **referred to a Committee** that is responsible for reviewing each part of the Bill and making recommendations for any changes that are needed.

**Search** for and view any Bill that has been introduced in the House of Assembly from 1995 to the present date. This will allow you to read the Bill, see which political party it was introduced by, and see its current status (for example, if it is at First or Second Reading stage, at the Committee stage, or whether it has received Royal Assent).

## Can members of the public provide input on Bills before the House of Assembly?

Yes, they can! You have a right to share your voice and be heard. Public input is an essential part of the democratic process.

The Committee stage is an important step in the process of a Bill becoming a law for a number of reasons. One of the key reasons why it's so important is because this is the stage when members of the public get to provide direct input on the content of a Bill and whether it should become law.

You have a right to share your thoughts on proposed Bills. You might want to share your support for a particular Bill that you think is essential. Or you might wish to suggest changes or bring up important considerations from your own experience or from your community. Or maybe you don't agree that a Bill should be passed and you want to share why.

The Committee stage is an opportunity for you to share any relevant thoughts and concerns with people who are responsible for making recommendations about a Bill and suggesting changes.

Any member of the public is able to share their input at this stage in the process. You can do this one of two ways.

You can provide input to the Committee by presenting your views in person before the Committee or by submitting your input in writing.

If you are interested in presenting to the Committee in person about a Bill, you can contact the **Office of the Legislative Counsel** to get your name added to the list of presenters. You can find more information about the Office of the Legislative Counsel at **nslegislature.ca/about/supporting-offices/office-legislative-counsel**.

After the Committee decides when to meet about a Bill, you will receive notice from the Office of the Legislative Counsel letting you know the date and time of the meeting so you can attend and present your input.

You can also submit your thoughts in writing. You can do this through the Office of the Legislative Counsel either by mail or electronically. There is no deadline for written submissions, but it is important to make your submissions as soon as possible so the Committee has time to review them.

Once the Bill has passed through the Committee stage, it is then **sent back to the House of Assembly.** When the Committee returns a bill to the House of Assembly, this may include recommendations for changes to the Bill.

When the Bill is returned to the House of Assembly, MLAs might engage in further debate about the Bill. MLAs are allowed to speak more than once at this debate. Sometimes the debate is longer and more in-depth at this stage.

The Bill is then presented for a **third reading where a final vote will happen.** This step might involve a very quick approval of the Bill by MLAs. But there can sometimes be more debate at this point if proper notice has been given in advance.

If a Bill is approved at its third reading, it then receives **Royal Assent from the Lieutenant Governor**. At this point a Bill is no longer called a Bill. It is called **an Act**. This means it has officially become part of our law.



Democracy is not something you believe in or a place to hang your hat, but it's something you do. You participate. If you stop doing it, democracy crumbles.

Abbie Hoffman

### Complain up the chain: how to ensure your voice is heard



#### Identify who is responsible for an issue. This might be a supervisor in a customer service context. If it's a matter of law and public policy, it would likely be your MLA or MP.



Let them know your concerns!
This can be as simple as writing a letter or email, making a phone call, or setting up an appointment to speak to someone in person.



Follow up.

If you don't get an answer within a reasonable time frame, contact this person again and ask them when you can expect to hear back.



#### If you don't get a satisfactory response, speak to the next person up the chain.

This could be a manager, the ombudsman's office (if you're dealing with a government department), or someone else in a position of power. You can usually find this information on an organization's website, but if you can't, you are well within your right to ask for it.

#### Tips for effective communication



You write in order to change the world. If you alter, even by a millimeter, the way people look at reality, then you can change it.

James Baldwin

The following are some tips for effectively communicating with your MLA. We've focused on written communication (sending an email or writing a letter), but many of these tips could also apply if you call your MLA's office or speak to a representative in person.

- 1. Find out who your MLA is. The first step is to find out which MLA represents your community. You can write to any MLA and you may wish to write to a particular MLA who has some expertise on a particular topic or has spoken out before about the issue that matters to you. But the best starting place would be to contact the MLA who is responsible for the community in which you live. As we discussed above, MLAs are responsible for representing the needs and concerns of the communities that elect them. Visit here to access a full list of Nova Scotia's MLAs, which includes their biographies, information about which community they serve, and their contact information.
- 2. Be respectful. This doesn't mean not showing emotion. Many of the issues that we want to speak to our MLAs about impact our lives in significant ways, and so it is reasonable to write from a place of strong feeling. Your emotions are valid. But your message will be more impactful and taken more seriously if it doesn't include abusive language. This doesn't mean that you shouldn't say how you feel about an issue (including if you feel frustrated or upset). But in order to foster meaningful dialogue and understanding, it's important to communicate your thoughts and feelings in a constructive manner.
- 3. Be clear and concise. You don't need to write a long letter for it to be impactful. MLAs receive a lot of letters, emails, and calls from members of the public on a regular basis. Yours doesn't need to be pages and pages for it to stand out and be taken seriously. It's much more important that it clearly explains what you are asking for from your MLA and why this issue is so important.
- **4. State your main point early on.** The most effective letters get to the point quickly. It's best to share your main point and your letter's purpose within the first couple of sentences of your letter. For example, if you are concerned about the lack of affordable and accessible mental health resources in our province, start your letter with this point! You could write something like,

"I'm writing to you because I'm concerned about Nova Scotia's lack of mental health resources that people can afford and access. I'm asking that our government do something about this issue, because many people in my community are suffering needlessly. I would like to see our province put more funding into this vital form of healthcare."

- 5. Share WHY an issue matters to you. How are you or your community impacted? Letters that speak from personal experience can help your MLA understand why an issue is so important. If you feel comfortable sharing personal stories about how an issue has impacted your life or the lives of your loved ones, this can be a powerful way of showing your MLA why it is essential to take meaningful action.
- 6. Write about why an issue affects ALL of us. It is also important to explain how an issue impacts all of us, or many of us. Politicians are very focused on the public interest, so they will likely pay more attention to issues that impact the public at large. Give some space in your letter to explain the big picture. For example, if you're a young person who is writing to your MLA about the lack of affordable housing in Nova Scotia, you can start by describing how this is an issue that affects youth. But your letter will be even more impactful if you stress that this is also an issue that affects a large and diverse portion of the population, including senior citizens, newcomers to Canada, single parents, and many others.
- 7. Write in your own voice. The most effective communication comes from the heart. There is no need to use fancy language or to try to sound like a politician yourself when you write to your MLA. Write what comes naturally. It is your letter, so it should express YOU!
- 8. Make sure you're writing to the right person. In Canada, we have both a provincial and federal government, and these different levels of government have different responsibilities. This means that some issues fall under the provincial umbrella and some issues fall under the federal umbrella. For more information about this, go to www.canada.ca/en/intergovernmental-affairs/services/federation/distribution-legislative-powers.html. Your MLA is part of the provincial government, and so they are the ones to contact about issues that fall under the province's responsibility, such as hospitals, education, and natural resources. Some issues, such as criminal law, are federal responsibilities. So if, for example, you want to propose updates to our Criminal Code, you would need to contact your Member of Parliament (MP), who is part of the federal government. You can find information about who your MP is and how to contact them by going to www.ourcommons.ca/Members/en/search.
- **9. Sign off with a respectful closing and a hope for a response.** The best way to close a letter (or email) is a hopeful nudge toward next steps. For example, you could write, "I look forward to hearing back from you and learning what your office plans to do about this important issue."
- 10. Follow up with a phone call. After you've sent your letter, it can be impactful to call your MLA's office to ask if they've reviewed your letter. This phone call can be a good opportunity to discuss some of the points you've made and ask what concrete steps will be taken to address your concerns.

#### Writing a letter to your MLA



**Use the example provided** to express an issue that you want to write to your MLA about. Tailor the template to any issue that matters to you.



**Write to your MLA.** Use your own words to talk about issues you feel deserve attention and action.



**Be specific!** Tell your MLA what you're hoping for. If you have an idea in mind about what could address the issue you've raised, let your MLA know.



Make your letter personal! The most effective letters are those that help our leaders understand why an issue is so important and how it impacts the people they represent.



Write about the public interest component. How does the issue you're writing about affect a particular community or group broadly?



Make sure to let your MLA know who you are and how to reach you. Include your first and last name, mailing address, phone number and email address.

#### Template letter to your MLA

The following is an example of the kind of letter that you can send to your MLA.

We've used the current housing crisis as an example of the kind of issue that Nova Scotians may want to write to their MLAs about. But you can tailor this template to **any issue that matters to you.** 

Our letter is intended only for reference purposes and to inspire you to think about what issues YOU want to raise. We encourage you to write to your MLA **in your own words** and about issues that you feel deserve attention and action.

#### **EXAMPLE 1**

[Today's date]
The Honourable [MLA's first name and last name]
MLA, [Specify riding]
[MLA's office address]

Re: [State your topic. For example, the housing crisis in Nova Scotia]

Dear [MLA's first name and last name]

As your constituent, I am writing to express my concerns about the affordable housing crisis in Nova Scotia. I understand that the Province has undertaken some action to address this issue, for example through creating the Affordable Housing Commission. But I feel like this is not enough. We do not need more reports telling us that there is a crisis, because we know and many of us feel the effects of this crisis on a daily basis. I encourage you to remind Premier Tim Houston that we need meaningful action now to prevent this crisis from getting worse.

[Make your letter personal! Tell your MLA why a particular issue impacts you and your community. The most effective letters are those that help our leaders understand why an issue is so important and how it impacts the people they represent.]

I live in [community's name], where I have seen many of my neighbours and friends affected by the rising costs of living and the housing crisis. My neighbourhood is mainly made up of apartment buildings and houses divided into rental units. It has been a long time since anyone I know has been able to even think about saving to buy a house, because it seems like only a very small

percentage of people are able to afford houses anymore.

I saw a recent *Globe and Mail* report that says that on average you need to have a yearly income of \$78,000 in order to afford a one-bedroom apartment in Halifax. This is disheartening. I am terrified that when my landlord raises my rent again then my family will have to choose between buying groceries and paying our rent. We are already very close to that point.

I have tried searching repeatedly for a more affordable place to live. But because so many people are in crisis searching for affordable housing, I don't even get a call or an email back from prospective landlords. I realize that the Province has put some money into developing some affordable units in particular communities in the HRM. But this does not help those of us who are living in a state of constant anxiety that we will get evicted from the places we live now because we can't afford to pay our rent and basic living expenses. When the current rent cap is no longer in place at the end of 2023, I fear my landlord will raise the rent so much that my family will have to leave our home and will have nowhere to live.

[Write about the public interest component. How does the issue you're writing about affect the community broadly?]

I know this is an issue that affects many of us in [community's name]. It also affects many people across the HRM and across Nova Scotia. I know many seniors and young people who have had to move in with other family members because they can no longer afford to live independently. I know families who have been forced into significant debt in order to pay their rent and afford food. We all know that this is not a sustainable way to live. I am worried that my neighbours and friends will run out of options and end up homeless.

I ask that you write back and let me know what you and your colleagues plan to do to address this crisis in a meaningful way. I look forward to your reply.

[First name and last name, contact information (phone number, email address, mailing address)]

#### Template letter to your MLA

#### **EXAMPLE 2**

[Today's date]
The Honourable [MLA's first name and last name]
MLA, [Specify riding]
[MLA's office address]

Re: [State your topic. For example, the lack of affordable mental health care in Nova Scotia]

Dear [MLA's first name and last name]

As your constituent, I am writing to express my concerns about the lack of affordable and accessible mental health services in Nova Scotia. The last several years have been difficult ones for Nova Scotians, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the mass shooting that happened in April of 2020, the current housing crisis, the climate crisis that is evident in the recent flooding and wildfires, and the many other issues that impact people in our province.

[Tell your MLA what you're hoping for. Be specific! If you have an idea in mind about what could address the issue you've raised, let your MLA know.]

Now is the time to get people the mental health support that they need to navigate these significant challenges. I strongly believe that our government needs to put more funding into free, accessible mental health services for all Nova Scotians.

I understand that our government has done some work toward addressing this issue through creating the Access Wellness service. I know that through this service Nova Scotians are able to get a single one-on-one appointment with a counselor about mental health concerns. But this feels like a bandaid solution. There is no issue that can be meaningfully addressed in a single session. We need much better resources if we really want to help people in crisis.

[Make your letter personal! Tell your MLA why a particular issue impacts you and your community. The most effective letters are those that help our leaders understand why an issue is so important and how it impacts the people they represent.]

I was diagnosed with depression a few years ago while I was still a university student. Because I was a student then, I was able to access counseling for free through the health and wellness center at my school. I don't know what I would have done without this. Since graduating, I have not had the means to pay to see a therapist and do not have a job that provides health insurance.

It has been a difficult time in my life, because I've been struggling to afford rent, food, and other necessities while also trying to work on my mental health. I know I need mental health care, but if I have to choose between paying for a therapist or buying basic groceries, I know that I have to prioritize the essentials. That said, I believe that we as a province need to start seeing mental health as essential.

I saw a counselor through the Access Wellness program. The person I saw was compassionate and helped me feel safe. But even before the appointment I felt a sense of anxiety in knowing that I would probably open up about issues in this appointment that I would not be able to get any further help to address. Therapy needs to be an ongoing process of treatment, not a one-time thing. I'm not fixed because I saw this counselor once. If anything, I'm even more aware of how much I need help that I'm not able to get.

[Write about the public interest component. How does the issue you're writing about affect a particular community or group broadly?]

I know this is an issue that affects many of us right now in Nova Scotia. I know it's a big problem for people of my generation. Besides all of our personal problems and traumas, our mental health is also affected by how our environment is changing and how the cost of living keeps going up. The future is scary for us. Many of us had to finish high school online because of the pandemic. We've been isolated from our peers. For many of us, me included, we haven't found good support systems or healthy coping mechanisms.

Now is the time for our province to show real leadership on this issue. Mental health is as important as physical health. So many of us are in crisis and do not know where to turn. We need better services, and, importantly, affordable services.

I ask that you write back and let me know what you and your colleagues plan to do to address this issue in a meaningful way. I look forward to your reply.

[First name and last name, contact information (phone number, email address, mailing address]

#### Template letter to your MLA

#### **EXAMPLE 3**

[Today's date]
The Honourable [MLA's first name and last name]
MLA, [Specify riding]
[MLA's office address]

Re: [State your topic. For example, barriers and discriminatory treatment that gender diverse people experience in accessing services]

Dear [MLA's first name and last name]

As your constituent, I am writing to express my concerns about the many barriers and casual acts of discrimination that many trans and gender diverse people experience when accessing services in Nova Scotia.

[Make your letter personal! Tell your MLA why a particular issue impacts you and your community. The most effective letters are those that help our leaders understand why an issue is so important and how it impacts the people they represent.]

I am a non-binary person who uses they/them pronouns. Since coming out three years ago, I have had numerous experiences of being misgendered by staff in many places including government offices. Examples of these experiences include staff referring to me by gendered language like "Ma'am" or not acknowledging my correct pronouns. These experiences are hurtful. They make me feel invalidated and exhausted.

[Tell your MLA what you've already tried and what you're hoping for. If you've already tried to have your concerns addressed but not gotten anywhere, it can be helpful to let your MLA know this. Also, if you have an idea in mind about what could address the issue you've raised, let your MLA know..]

I realize that I could speak to the Human Rights Commission about these concerns, and in some instances I have. But I believe that this is an issue that is much broader than a single human rights complaint. The experiences that I've described are extremely commonplace. I know many others in the trans and

non-binary community who have experienced similar issues on a regular and sometimes daily basis.

I feel like the only real solution is education and awareness. Our province should take the lead on ensuring that every employee receive training on how to treat gender diverse people with respect and care. I would also like to see free training and education for all members of the public so that everyone can better understand how to be inclusive of gender diverse people.

[Write about the public interest component. How does the issue you're writing about affect a particular community or group broadly?]

I want all members of my community to feel like they can access services without being afraid of discrimination. I want this for myself too. For many of us, this is a safety issue. Casual misgendering creates an environment where discrimination can thrive. I know many trans and non-binary people who have faced harassment and even violence in public spaces. We need education and awareness now more than ever to prevent some of these harms and keep vulnerable people safe.

I ask that you write back and let me know what you and your colleagues plan to do to address this issue in a meaningful way. I look forward to your reply.

[First name and last name, contact information (phone number, email address, mailing address)]

#### Resources

The following websites are valuable resources for understanding our political system and laws. We encourage you to explore these resources as a way to deepen your understanding of how to be an engaged citizen.

**The Legal Information Society of Nova Scotia** – Visit **www.legalinfo.org** for lots of plain language legal information, videos, guides, and other resources. You can also chat, email, or call them with questions about the law.

More: The Legal Information Society of Nova Scotia (LISNS) has been supporting Nova Scotians to understand the law and access legal support since 1987. With a vision for access to justice in action and a mission to empower people to identify, prevent, and solve legal issues, our organization offers a wide range of supports and resources. With particular support for eradicating workplace sexual harassment, supporting victims of sexual violence, and with specific guidance and resources for newcomers, youth, and women navigating family law issues, LISNS has a strong history of empowering marginalized groups.

**The Nova Scotia College of Social Workers** – Visit **nscsw.org**\_to find a social worker and learn about events and advocacy initiatives.

More: The Nova Scotia College of Social Workers (NSCSW) exists to serve and protect Nova Scotians by effectively regulating the profession of social work. They are responsible for ensuring that Nova Scotians receive the services of skilled and competent social workers who are knowledgeable, ethical, qualified, and accountable to the people who receive their services. NSCSW also works in solidarity with Nova Scotians to advocate for policies that improve social conditions, challenge injustice and value diversity.

**Social workers are everywhere** – working in health and community services, hospitals and clinics, schools, libraries, and more – and advocacy is an essential component of their practice. All across Nova Scotia you can find social workers supporting people in navigating complex systems to access health care, education, employment and housing, every day; they are uniquely positioned to identify and address systemic gaps, provide key services and programs, and connect communities to what they need, while applying their skills to build a more just world.

- Campaign School Visit women.novascotia.ca/campaign-school for a free online training course aimed at women who are interested in running for political office.
- **Equal Voice** Visit **equalvoice.ca** for resources, information, and skill development for women and gender diverse people who want to become politically engaged or run for office.
- Springtide's Three Minute Citizen Visit www.springtide.ngo/video/series/three-minute-citizen/ to watch a series of 11 videos explaining Canadian democracy in plain language.

Visit **nslegislature.ca/members/profiles** to access a full list of Nova Scotia's MLAs, which includes their biographies, information about which community they serve, and their contact information. You can also go to **enstools.electionsnovascotia.ca/edinfo** to look up your MLA based on your home address.

#### Office of the Legislative Counsel

Visit nslegislature.ca/about/supporting-offices/office-legislative-counsel to find out more about the Office of The Legislative Counsel, and how to contact the Office.

#### The Constitutional distribution of legislative powers

Visit www.canada.ca/en/intergovernmental-affairs/services/federation/distribution-legislative-powers.html to learn more about the devision of legislative power between the levels of government.

#### **Current Members of Parliament**

Visit ourcommons.ca/Members/en/search to find your Member of Parliament (MP).

#### **House of Commons**

Visit **ourcommons.ca** to learn more about The Canadian House of Commons. Here you can stay up to date, learn about the history, and find transcripts/videos of the debates (Hansard).

#### Nova Scotia Legislature

Visit **nslegislature.ca** to learn more about The Nova Scotia Legislature. Here you can stay up to date, learn about the history, and find transcripts/videos of the debates (Hansard).

# **Notes**

# **Notes**



